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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
NASHVILLE DIVISION

TERRY JOE BEASLEY, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) Civil No. 3:16-cv-1373
) Judge Aleta A. Trauger
)
WELLSFARGO BANK, N.A., as Trustee )
for the Certificate Holders of PARK PLACE )
SECURITIES, INC., asset-backed pass- )
through Certificates, SERIES 2004-M CW 1, )
)
Defendant. )
MEMORANDUM

The defendant, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A (“WdHargo”), as trustee for the certificate
holders of Park Place Securgtjdnc., asset-backed pass-tigh certificates, Series 2004-
MCW1, has filed a Motion for Judgment on fAkeadings (Docket No. 16), to which the
plaintiff, Terry Joe Beasley, has filed agpense in Opposition (Docket No. 18). For the
following reasons, the motion will be granted.

BACK GROUND*

In 2004, the plaintiff, Terry Joe Beagléorrowed $189,000 from Amerigquest Mortgage

Company (“Ameriquest”) to purchase a prapéocated at 2009 College View Drive,

! Unless otherwise noted, the facts recouietiis section are drawn from the
Complaint (Docket No. 1-1) and are assumebliedrue for purposes of evaluating the Motion
for Judgment on the Pleadings. In deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the court
may also consider documents that were eitttaclhed to the pleadings or referred to in the
pleadings and integral to the claims before the cdbee Commercial Money Ctr., Inc. v. lll.
Union Ins. Co,508 F.3d 327, 335-36 (6th Cir. 2007). Thert will, therefore, include in its
consideration the exhibits attached to WElBsgo’s Answer and the Note attached to the
pending motion, which is referred to in ther@@aint as the “closig documents” (Docket
No. 1-1 T 33) and is integrad the plaintiff's claims.
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Murfreesboro, Tennessee 37130 (the “PropertfDocket No. 11-1 (Deed of Trust); Docket
No. 17-1 (Note).) At some point in the lagglet years, Ameriquestansferred andssigned the
Deed of Trust and Note to Wells Fargo, whiclsas trustee for Paface Securities, Inc.
(“Park Place”), a “securitized trust created tloe purpose of pooling various residential home
mortgages.” (Docket No. 1-1 1 34.Also at some point in tHast eight years — the Complaint
does not clarify wheh- Mr. Beasley defaulted on his mpage. In April of 2016, Wells Fargo
initiated foreclosure proceedings on the Propertyjttagpears that the foreclosure sale has been
postponed while Mr. Beasley pursues this suitisgeto enjoin Wells Fargo from further action
in connection withthe foreclosure.

In the Complaint, Mr. Beasley allegemslltiple instances of wrongdoing in connection

with his mortgage and the scheeldifforeclosure on the Property tihat claims warrant judicial

2 Wells Fargo contends that it acquired thebt in 2014, as evidenced by a January 8,
2014 agreement transferring and assigning the De&dust and Note from Ameriquest to Wells
Fargo. (Docket No. 11-2 (Transfer & Assignmenf)is contention is undercut, however, by a
2009 limited subordination agreement between Wells Fargo and the Small Business
Administration that subordinates indebtedness owed to théministration and secured by the
Property to “the Wells Fargo Deed of Trus{Docket No. 11-3 (Subordination Agreement).)
Presumably, Wells Fargo would have no reasanter into such an agreement in 2009 unless it
had already acquired Mr. Beasley’s debt. Naitharty has attempted to explain how this
subordination agreement can beamciled with the agreement purping to transfethe Deed of
Trust and Note from Ameriquest Wells Fargo fiveyears later.

% In his Response, Mr. Beasley argues thatdsbeen in default since 2009, which he
claims “is alleged (perhaps not clearly) ir&gaph 37 of [the] Complaint.” (Docket No. 18,
p. 7.) Paragraph 37 does not state when Masky defaulted on his mortgage, however, but
merely references the limited subordination agreement between Wells Fargo and the Small
Business Administration discusssaprafootnote 2. (Docket No. 1-1 9 37.) The court
acknowledges its obligatn to construe the the Complainttire light most favorable to Mr.
Beasley, but — while it is certainpossiblethat the 2009 subordination agreement was prompted
by Mr. Beasley’'s default — thevart does not find such an imé&nce to be reasonable or
supported by other allegatis in the Complaint.



intervention. For example, Mr. Beasley alledleat, at all times, ¢hidentity of the “true
creditor” of his mortgage has been “shielded arade very confusing” for him and that the
“actual creditor” of his loan is unknownld( 1 39, 42, 45.) The Complaint further alleges that,
“[o]ver the years, various entities have claimetadahe ‘creditor’ or ‘lender on Mr. Beasley’s
loan; including, but not limited to, Bank of Aarica, [Ameriquest], and Countrywide.1d(
1 39.) The Complaint does not, however, idgrdify conduct on the part of Wells Fargo that
Mr. Beasley claims contributed to his igaace of the identity of his creditor.

Mr. Beasley further alleges that “these actionsbscuring the reareditor have harmed
[him] because, upon information and belief, helifjea for loss mitigation options which would
allow him to stay in his home and satisfy his debt$d: {42.) Despite being qualified for this
loss mitigation, Mr. Beasley further alleges thatwas never “offered . . . any loss mitigation
alternatives such as a loan modifioator ‘short sale’™ of the Propertyld( § 41.) The record
does not, however, support Mr. Beasley’s alliegs regarding loss mitigation. On April 11,
2016, Rubin Lublin TN, PLLC sent a “Notice Atceleration and Foreclosure” to Mr. Beasley
on behalf of Wells Fargo. (Docket No. 11-4 (Me).) This Notice advised Mr. Beasley that
Wells Fargo was instituting nomgicial foreclosure proceedinggainst the Property and that,
unless Mr. Beasley paid the entamount of the debt in full, flreclosure sale would take place
on May 19, 2016. I¢. at p. 1.) The Notice directed MBeasley to a wasite containing
“information relative to loss mitigation optioasd saving [his] home from foreclosure Itl.(at
p. 2.) Mr. Beasley has not denied that he recdivisdetter, nor has he alleged that he visited
the loss mitigation website or submitted an application for loss mitigation to Wells Fargo at any

point.



PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 13, 2016, Mr. Beasley filed an actigainst Wells Fargo ithe Chancery Court
of Rutherford County, Tennessee, seeking amation prohibiting Wells Fargo from taking
further action on the scheduled foreclosure. {@bo&No. 1-1.) In the Complaint, Mr. Beasley
alleges that Wells Fargo (1) wrondlfy foreclosed on the Property when it “failfed] to comply
with the terms of the securitized trust’violation of Tenn. Code Ann. § 35-5-16i.seqand
Article 1, Section 8 of the Tennessee Constitution; (2) violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act (“FDCPA”"), 15 U.S.C. § 1692t seqg. by using false, deceptive, and misleading statements
in attempting to foreclose on the Property; andv(8lated regulations pmulgated pursuant to
the Consumer Financial ProtewtiAct (“CFPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 5514t seq. by failing to offer
him loss mitigation alternatives to foreclosuréd. {1 44-57.) Shortly aftehe Complaint was
filed, Wells Fargo removed the action to tbaurt on the grounds that the court possesses
federal question jurisdiction owéhe claims. (Docket No. 1.pn July 21, 2016, Wells Fargo
filed its Answer, attaching multiple documengferenced in the pleadings and denying any
wrongdoing in connection with the scheduled foseate on the Property. (Docket No. 11.)

On September 16, 2016, Wells Fargo filed pgending Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings (Docket No. 16), accompanied by andendum of Law arguintipat the Complaint
fails to state a claim upon wincelief can be granted. (DodKdo. 17.) Wells Fargo argues
that Mr. Beasley’s wrongful foreclosure claimdigficient as a matter of law and fact because
(1) it is not ripe until Wells Fargo completieseclosure proceedinggainst the Property,

(2) Mr. Beasley has no standing to challenge aewpdir of the terms of the securitized trust, and
(3) Mr. Beasley has failed to allege facts denmatisig that Wells Fargbas violated any law in

the course of the foreclosurdd.(at pp. 4-8.) Wells Fargo alsogues that the Complaint fails



to state a claim under the FDCPA because it faildlege facts supporting the inference that
Wells Fargo is a “debt collector” within the meanwfghat statute or usddlse, deceptive, or
misleading statements in attenmgtito foreclose on the Propertyd.(at pp. 8-9.) Finally, Wells
Fargo argues that the Complaint fails to alléayts supporting a claim under the CFPA, because
the cited regulation does not “impose[] a dutyaoservicer to provide any borrower with any
specific loss mitigation option.”Id. at pp. 9-10 (quoting 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41).)

On October 10, 2016, Mr. Beasley filed a Response in Opposition to the Motion.
(Docket No. 18.) In it, Mr. Beasley argues that claims are ripe because Wells Fargo has
merely postponed the scheduled foreclosule afathe Propertyrad will in all likelihood
proceed with the sale, should the d¢alecline to hear his claimsld( at pp. 3-4.) Mr. Beasley
also argues that his wrongfigireclosure claim is supported yells Fargo’s failure to follow
certain “statutory requirements” in pursuing fdosure, but he does nmiention the violations
of Tenn. Code Ann. § 35-5-1@t seqor the Tennessee Constitution that are alleged as the basis
for the claim in the Complaint.Sged. at pp. 3—-6.) Rather, MBeasley argues that the
wrongful foreclosure is based on Wells Fardaiture to follow the “specific and detailed
actions” required of a servicer pursuant to 12 C.F.R. § 1024ldlat (. 5.) According to
Mr. Beasley, Wells Fargo was required to “evéduaim] for loss mitigation options” but failed
to notify him of those options, wiolation of this regulation (which also serves as the basis for
his claim under the CFPA)Id( at pp. 5, 8.) Finally, Mr. Basley argues that Wells Fargo
acquired his debt from Ameriquest afteriaal already defaulted dris mortgage and is,
therefore, a “debt collector” withithe meaning of the FDCPAId( at pp. 7-8.)

LEGAL STANDARD

Rule 12(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Pedcire provides that ‘“Ther the pleadings are



closed — but early enough notdelay trial — a party may move for judgment on the pleadings.”
Conversely, a motion under Rule 12(b) “must belenbefore pleading if a responsive pleading
is allowed.” Rule 12(c) motions for judgmeont the pleadings and Rule 12(b)(6) motions are
evaluated under the same standard of reviemtz v. Charter Twp. of Comstock92 F.3d 718,
722 (6th Cir. 2010). Accordingly, the court mtisbnstrue the complaint in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving party, accept the weltpéectual allegations as true, and determine
whether the moving party is entitlénljudgment as a matter of lawCommercial Money Ctr.,
Inc. v. lll. Union Ins. Cq.508 F.3d 327, 336 (6th Cir. 2007Although the court’s decision
regarding a motion for judgmean the pleadings rests prirmtgmupon the allegations of the
complaint, “matters of public record, ordersmieappearing in thecerd of the case, and
exhibits attached to trmomplaint[ ] also may be taken into accounAiini v. Oberlin Coll,
259 F.3d 493, 502 (6th Cir. 2001) (quotiNgeman v. NLO, In¢108 F.3d 1546, 1554 (6th Cir.
1997)). In considering a motion for judgmenttba pleadings, the court “need not accept the
plaintiff's legal conclusions or unwamted factual inferences as trueCommercial Money Cty.
508 F.3d at 336. To withstand a Rule 12(c) motwrjudgment on the pleadings, therefore, “a
complaint must contain direct or inferential gigions respecting all the material elements under
some viable legal theory.Id.
ANALYSIS

At the outset, the court finds it necessaryote that Mr. Beasley’s pleadings and
submissions in this matter are @otodel of clarity, asséng a plethora of legal theories that are
not consistent between the Complaint andR@sponse and making it difficult to evaluate his
claims. Nonetheless, after reviewing the pleaditigsexhibits attached thereto, and the parties’

briefings, the court finds that MBeasley’s claims are deficieam$ a matter of law and fact and,



therefore, warrant dismissal pursuant to Rul@E)L2First, a review of the legal bases for

Mr. Beasley’s claims — including those assertedtie first time in his Response — demonstrates
that a number of his claims are not premisediahle legal theoriesSecond, for those claims
that are premised on viable legal theories, B&asley has failed to allege facts sufficient to
support the material elements of thosemfgirelying instead on legal conclusions and
unwarranted factual inferences that the court need not — and will not — accept as true.

l. Claim for Wrongful Foreclosure

There are no specific elements for a wrond@dukclosure claim under Tennessee law. As
many federal district courts this state have noted, howeyéfennessee courts generally
examine whether contractual statutory requirements were met in the foreclosure of the
property in question.’Ringold v. Bank of Am. Home LoamNo. 2:12-cv-02344, 2013 WL
1450929, at *6 (W.D. Tenn. Apr. 9, 2013);cord Lee v. Equifirst CorpNo. 3:10-cv-809,

2010 WL 4320714, at *10 (M.D. Tenn. Oct. 26, 2018k bases for his wrongful foreclosure
claim, Mr. Beasley alleges that (1) Park Pldtas failed to conform tthe terms of its own

enabling documentation and hasstanding to pursue a forecloswale,” and (2) Wells Fargo

has violated Tenn. Code Ann. § 35-5-Hdkeqand the Tennessee Constitution’s due process
guarantee by “failing to comply with the termstbé securitized trust.(Docket No. 1-1 1Y 44—

48.) To the extent that Mr. Bdayg's claims are premised on allegations that either Park Place or
Wells Fargo failed to comply with the terms of the securitized trust, however, Mr. Beasley has
no standing to pursue them. As Wells Fargodusectly noted — and Mr. Beasley has failed to
rebut in his Response — “[c]ourts have caiesily rejected borrower’s requests to have

mortgage assignments and foreclosures invalidated due to nhon-compliance with Pooling and

Servicing Agreement Provisions, basedtbe] borrowers’ lack of standing.Dauenhauer v.



Bank of N.Y. Mellon562 F. App’x 473, 480 (6th Cir. 2014Mr. Beasley does not have standing
to challenge Wells Fargo’s compliance with therte of the securitized trust, and allegations
regarding such a breach, tefare, cannot support a claimwfongful foreclosure under
Tennessee law.

Nor has Mr. Beasley alleged facts sufficiemsupport any claim that — other than by
failing to comply with the terms of the trust — W¢e~argo violated the atutory requirements set
forth in Tenn. Code Ann 8§ 35-5-1@t seqor the due process guarantee of the Tennessee
Constitution. Mr. Beasley alleges that “[t]aetual creditor [of his mortgage] is unknown”
(Docket No. 1-1 1 45), but he never addresses documents submitted by Wells Fargo
demonstrating that it is the actual creditor, ideggiany conduct on the part of Wells Fargo that
he claims contributed tois ignorance of its identity as hiseditor, identifies a specific provision
of the Tennessee Code that he claims Wellsd-aag violated, or explas how any action taken
by Wells Fargo constitutes a vidtat of due process. Mr. Beasley has, therefore, failed to
adequately support his wrongful foreclosuramlansofar as it is premised on an alleged
violation of Tennessee statutory or constitutional law.

In his Response, Mr. Beasley appearaliandon these legal theories and, instead,
advances a new basis for his wrongful forecloslaen, arguing that “[the specific statutory
scheme which [Wells Fargo] violated and whgupports a claim for wngful foreclosure is
12 C.F.R. [8] 1024.41.” (Docket No. 18, p. 5.) m@gally, courts in ta Sixth Circuit have
treated legal theories first raisgdthe plaintiff's response todispositive motion “as an implicit
motion to amend the complaint,” but only “whdhdd the relevant facts had previously been
pled.” Super Sulky, Inc. v. U.S. Trotting Assli74 F.3d 733, 740 (6th Cir. 1999 cord JAT,

Inc. v. Nat'l City Bank of the Midwest60 F. Supp. 2d 812, 818 (E.D. Mich. 2006). The court



need not determine whether it is appropriatalkmv Mr. Beasley to advance this new legal
theory, however, because even if it werednstrue his Response as an implicit motion to
amend, it could not grant that motion at this timdes discussed below, Mr. Beasley has failed to
state a claim for violations of 12 C.F.R. § 1024a4d, therefore, he cannot premise a claim for
wrongful foreclosure on violationsf that regulation. Accordgly, the court finds that the
Complaint fails to allege viablegal theories or sufficient facts support his claim that Wells
Fargo wrongfully instituted foreclosure proceedingsthe Property in vioteon of contractual or
statutory requirements, and the court will dismiss the cfaim.

[. Claim for Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

The FDCPA was enacted to eliminate abesdeceptive, and uaif debt collection
practices; insure that those debt collectons wefrain from using abusive debt collection
practices are not competitively disadvantaged; @omote consistent state action to protect
consumers. 15 U.S.C. § 1692(e). To thas#sethe FDCPA regulates interactions between
consumer debtors and “debt collector[s],” wdtgbt collectors prohibitefrom using “false,
deceptive, or misleading” statements, or “unfair and unconscionable” means, to collect or
attempt to collect a debtd. 88 1692e, 1692f. Mr. Beasley alleges that Wells Fargo is a “debt
collector” within the meaning dhe FDCPA and has used “falskeceptive, and/or misleading
statements” and “unfair and/anconscionable act[s]” in attertipg to collect on the debt he

owes in connection with the épverty. (Docket No. 1-1 §{ 51-53.)

* Wells Fargo has also argued that Mr. Bexgs wrongful foreclosure claim is not yet
ripe because the foreclosure on the Property has not been completed. (Docket No. 17, pp. 4-5.)
Due to the Complaint’s failure to allege suffidiéacts to state a claim, however, the court does
not believe that it has information sufficigntdetermine whether the harm asserted by Mr.
Beasley is sufficiently mature to warrant judidintervention. The cotidoes not, therefore,
make any determination as to the ripeneddioBeasley’s wrongful feeclosure claim, and
nothing in this memorandum should be domsd as making any such determination.



Mr. Beasley has failed to allege facts suéfidito support the inference that Wells Fargo
is a “debt collector” within the meaning of tR®CPA. The Act defines a “debt collector” as
“any person who uses any instrumentality of intedescommerce or the mails in any business the
principal purpose of which is tlellection of any debts, or whogelarly collects or attempts to
collect, directly or indirectlydebts owed or due or assertede owed or due another.”

15 U.S.C. 8 1692a(6). The FDCPA's prohibiti@ltsnot, however, apply @ “creditor,” unless
the creditor undertakes lgection efforts on a debt that diwbt originate with the creditor and
that was in default at the time it was obtain&ee id8 1692a(6)(F)Bridge v. Ocwen Fed.
Bank, FSB681 F.3d 355, 359 (6th Cir. 2012). Mr. Begshas not alleged that Wells Fargo
conducted business with the pripal purpose of collecting debtsr has he alleged that Wells
Fargo regularly collects or attempts to colléebts owed to anothentity. Inorder to
sufficiently allege that Wells Fargo is a “dedollector” within the meaning of the FDCPA,
therefore, Mr. Beasley must allege facts sufficterdemonstrate that his debt was already in
default at the time that it was alted by Wells Fargo. The allegations in the Complaint and the
exhibits attached to the pleadings, howefadt to clarify (1) when Wells Fargo obtained

Mr. Beasley’s debt from Ameriquest, or (2) whHdn Beasley first defaulted on his mortgage.
Mr. Beasley has, therefore, failed to establigtn well-pleaded allegations that Wells Fargo
obtained his debt after he was in default and, wzereby, a “debt collector” subject to the
prohibitions of the FDCPA.

Because Mr. Beasley has failed to suffidigatlege that the FDCPA applies to Wells
Fargo, the court need not determine whethemtlegations in the Complaint support the
conclusion that any of Wells Fargo’s actions were false, deceptive, misleading, unfair, or

unconscionable, in violation of the Act. Tbeurt does note, howevehat Mr. Beasley has

10



failed to identify the practices that he claimslated the FDCPA in either the Complaint or his
Response and, absent this clartiica, the court would be unlikely to find that he has adequately
pled a claim under the FDCPA.

[1. Claim for Violations of the Consumer Financial Protection Act

As a preliminary matter, the court notes thtit Beasley has alleged that Wells Fargo
violated the CFPA when it failed to compiyth 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41. (Docket No. 1-1 11 56—
57.) As Mr. Beasley appears to recagnin his Response, however, § 1024.41 is not
enforceable through the CFPA bhy, its own terms, through Section 6(f) of RESPA (codified at
12 U.S.C. 8§ 2605(f)). RESPA is a broad remkstatute intended to provide American
consumers with more information about the eshte settlement process and protection from
“unnecessarily high settlement charges causerklgin abusive practices.” 12 U.S.C. § 2601.
Section 2605 — RESPA'’s provisigoverning the “[s]ervicing amortgage loans” — provides
that “[a] servicer of a federally related morggashall not . . . fail to comply with any . . .
obligation found by the Bureau of Consurik@mancial Protection, by regulation, to be
appropriate to carry out the consumestpction purposes of this chaptetd. 8 2605(k)(1)(E).

Mr. Beasley alleges that Welargo failed to comply with the requirements of § 1024.41
when it “never offered [him] any loss mitigatioheainatives.” (Docket N. 1-1  56.) The plain
language of § 1024.41, however, expressly disclamgsraention to imposen servicers a duty
to provide a borrower with loss mitigation options, stating:

Nothing in § 1024.41 imposes a duty on a servicer to provide any borrower with

any specific loss mitigation option. Natlg in § 1024.41 should be construed to

create a right for a borrower to erderthe terms of any agreement between a

servicer and the owner ossignee of a mortgage loanc¢luding with respect to

the evaluation for, or offer of, any loss mitigation option or to eliminate any such
right that may exist pursaato applicable law.

12 C.F.R. 8§ 1024.41(a). In addition, multiple fedemirts have recognized that this regulation

11



does not require servicers to offer losisigation alternatives to borrowerSee, e.gMader v.
Wells Fargo Bank, N.ANo. 16-cv-309, 2017 WL 177619, (D.N.H. 2017) (“[T]he

provisions of § 1024.41 do not reqgia servicer to offer a bomer a loan modification.”)Dent

V. Inv. Corp. of Am.No. 15-cv-11268, 2015 WL 9694807 *4t(E.D. Mich. Dec. 23, 2015)

(“The Court also notes that BPA does not actually requineortgage servicers to offer
mortgage assistance to borrowers, but rather merely esgastain obligations wonsider

offering such relief to borrowers.?).Rather, § 1024.41 imposes a duty on a servicer to comply
with certain procedures in evating a loss mitigation application, a duty that is triggered only
after the borrower submits such an applicatibti. Beasley has not alleged that he submitted an
application for loss mitigation that would have triggered Wells Fargo’s obligations under

§ 1024.41. Accordingly, Mr. Beasley has faileciliege that any of Wis Fargo’s conduct was
subject to the requirements 8t024.41 and, therefore, has failegtate a claim for violations

of that regulation.

Moreover, RESPA — and regulations progated pursuant to it — applies only to a
“servicer,” defined as “the person responsiblestnvicing of a loan.” 12 U.S.C. 8 2605(i)(2).
“Servicing,” in turn, is define@s “receiving any scheduled pmtic payments from a borrower
pursuant to the terms of any loan . . . and magengments of principand interest and such
other payments with respect to the amoueteived from the borrower as may be required

pursuant to the terms of the loarid. § 2605(i)(3). Mr. Beaslelgas not alleged that Wells

> The only regulation that arguably imposeduéy on servicers to offer a borrower loss
mitigation alternatives — 12 C.F.R. § 1024.40 s hat been cited by Mr. Beasley and is not
enforceable through a private right of acti®@ee, e.gDecker v. Servis One, IndNo. 1:15-cv-
1170, 2017 WL 61965, at *3 (W.D. Tex. Jan. 5, 200adyssett v. Bank of America, N.A.
No. 15-6318, 2016 WL 5848845, at *5 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 6, 2@®Nnvn v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon
No. 1:16-CV-194, 2016 WL 2726645, (E.D. Va. May 9, 2016).

12



Fargo was the servicer of his mortgage, norheaalleged that Wells Fargo was responsible for
receiving and applying scheduled periodic mortgaagments to his loan. In addition to failing
to allege facts sufficient to demonstrate %d1024.41 applies to Wells Fargo’s alleged conduct,
therefore, Mr. Beasley has also failed to allégs sufficient to demonstrate that Wells Fargo
was a “servicer” that was subject to the reguents laid out in § 1024.41. Accordingly, the
Complaint fails to state a ctaifor violation of 12 C.F.R§ 1024.41 upon which relief can be
granted, and the court will dismiss the claim.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed herein, thédvdor Judgment on the Pleadings filed by

Wells Fargo will be granted, and the Coniplavill be dismissed without prejudice.

Yk

ALETAA. TRAUGER/
UnitedState<District Judge

An appropriate order will enter.
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